IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 2006-WC-02101

HURDLE & SON AND MISSISSIPPI CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY

APPELLANTS

VS.

MICHAEL A. HOLLOWAY

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

J. KEITH PEARSON - BAR DANIEL COKER HORTON & BELL, P.A. 265 NORTH LAMAR BOULEVARD, SUITE R POST OFFICE BOX 1396 OXFORD, MISSISSIPPI 38655-1396 (662) 232-8979

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANTS

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO.

HURDLE & SON AND MISSISSIPPI CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY

APPELLANTS

VS.

MICHAEL A. HOLLOWAY

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether the circuit court improperly reweighed the evidence and overturned a ruling of the full Commission, when the ruling was supported by substantial evidence.
- 2. Whether the circuit court had the authority to reverse and render on the issue of adequate provision of nursing care, given the full Commission's finding that Claimant failed to follow correct Commission procedure in raising this matter at the Commission level.

.

I. Statement of the Case

A. Nature of the Case and the Course of the Proceedings and its Disposition in the Court Below.

The workers' compensation claim has previously been addressed by an administrative judge and the full Commission and has gone through appeals to the Marshall County Circuit Court and Mississippi Court of Appeals. During this initial round of litigation, Employer and Carrier did not contest the fact that Claimant was involved in an accident and did not contest the serious extent of the Claimant's injuries. Instead, Employer and Carrier defended this case based on an argument that Claimant was not in the course of scope for his employment at the time of his injury or alternatively that Claimant was barred from recovery by certain affirmative defenses. On October 5, 1999, this Court rendered their opinion affirming the full Commissions' determination that Claimant was in the course and scope of his employment at the time of his injury and was not otherwise barred from receiving workers' compensation benefits. *Hurdle v. Holloway*, 749 So. 2d 342 (Miss. App. 1999). Employer and Carrier did not appeal the Court of Appeals decision and have, since the time of that decision, complied with the affirmed Commission Order.

On March 13, 2000, Claimant filed a Motion for Sum Certain Judgment with the Commission, and one of the issues raised in this motion was the provision of home nursing services by Claimant's mother and step-father for twenty-four hours per day. The full Commission held that a full hearing was required on the issue and therefore denied Claimant's motion as presented. On August 5, 2002, Claimant filed a second motion requesting that Employer and Carrier be required to pay for a life care planner and that Claimant's mother and step-father be compensated for twenty-four hour a day nursing care. On August 14, 2002, Claimant filed a motion requesting that Claimant's counsel receive lump-sum attorney's fees based

on a life-care plan estimating Claimant's future medical expenses. These motion was set for hearing on a motion day. Counsel for Employer and Carrier was not given notice that evidence would be presented at the motion hearing. On June 26, 2003, the administrative judge issued an order ruling that Claimant had not followed Commission procedure in setting an evidentiary hearing before the administrative judge, but nonetheless, the administrative judge considered the relevant issues and found that Claimant had not made out a prima facie case for relief on any of the issues presented. Claimant appealed this ruling to the full Commission, which, by an order of May 7, 2004, affirmed the order of the administrative judge. Claimant appealed this matter to the Circuit Court of Marshall County. On September 13, 2006, the circuit court affirmed the full Commission on the denial of the appointment of a life care plan administrator and the denial of additional attorney's fees but reversed the full Commission's denial of twenty-four hour per day nursing care reimbursement to Claimant's mother and step-father. On October 6, 2006, Employer and Carrier perfected their appeal to this Court. No cross-appeal was filed.

B. Facts Relevant to the Issues Presented for Review

Claimant presented several witnesses during the motion day hearing, which was not scheduled as an evidentiary hearing. Counsel for Employer and Carrier did not cross-examine any witnesses or present proof, due to the improper nature of the evidentiary hearing.

Michael Holloway testified on his own behalf. Mr. Holloway testified that his mother and stepfather take care of him on a day to day basis. Transcript (hereinafter "T") at 11. Claimant also testified that a nurse sees him once a week and a nurse's aide comes by every day. T at 12. According to Claimant, the nurses stay about an hour per visit. T at 12. With regard to the care provided by Claimant's mother and stepfather, Claimant testified that they cook his meals, feed

him and dress him. T at 13-14.

Claimant's mother, Ms. Nettie Wiseman, also testified at the improper evidentiary hearing. Ms. Wiseman testified that she washes and bathes her son, changes his bed, prepares his food, dresses him and often takes him for rides. T at 16-17. Ms. Wiseman testified that she received training in 1996 to help her care for her son. T at 17. Ms. Wiseman further testified that she takes her son to church and has to assist him in changing the television channel. T at 19. Ms. Wiseman indicated that she and her husband sleep simultaneously during the night, other than having to occasionally get up to get water for Claimant. T at 20.

Ms. Wiseman further testified regarding changes which had been made to her home, at the expense of Carrier and about other changes which had been recommended but had not been completed at the time of the hearing. T at 20. Ms. Wiseman testified that Carrier had provided a handicap accessible van to carry her son and that she had the van worked on twice. T at 21. According to Ms. Wiseman overall the van was running well. T at 21.

Ms. Wiseman testified regarding a certain type of chair which Claimant needed at home. T at 22. However, she did not document the Carrier's refusal to provide the chair, and Claimant failed to provide proof of a medical prescription for the chair. T at 22.

Mr. James Wiseman, stepfather of Claimant, testified next. Mr. Wiseman testified that he and his wife provide primary care for Michael Holloway. T at 28.

Ms. Jackie Moore was presented by Claimant to testify as a certified life care planner and rehabilitation nurse. T at 29. Ms. Moore was not a medical provider in this matter but was instead hired by Claimant's attorneys to provide an opinion regarding Claimant's status and to provide recommendations regarding Claimant's future needs. T at 35. Ms. Moore testified that

Claimant needs twenty-four hours a day of nursing care. T at 38. However, Ms. Moore also testified that Mr. and Mrs. Wiseman were providing a "very high level of care". T at 39. It should be reiterated here that, per Mr. and Mrs. Wiseman's own testimony, they were not providing Claimant twenty-four hours a day nursing care. T at 20. Ms. Moore actually testified that Mr. and Mrs. Wiseman were providing care for twenty-four hours per day, though she did not attempt to reconcile her testimony with the testimony of Ms. Wiseman. T at 41.

Ms. Moore also prepared a life care plan and provided an assessment of Mr. Holloway's future medical needs and the cost for these medical needs. T at 41-43. To the best of Employer and Carrier's knowledge, Claimant has made no allegation that Employer and Carrier are not paying his medical bills in accordance with the prior order of the Mississippi Workers Compensation Commission.

Ms. Moore also testified about other items needed by Mr. Holloway. T at 44-45. Curiously, she testified in detail regarding Claimant's need for a handicap accessible van, though it is not disputed by any of the parties that Employer and Carrier have provided a handicap accessible van. In fact, Ms. Nettie Wiseman testified that the van had performed well. T at 21.

Counsel for Employer and Carrier did not cross-examine any of the witnesses and specifically reserved the right to do so until such time as discovery had been undertaken and counsel for Employer and Carrier had time to adequately to prepare for a hearing on the merits. T at 49. Employer and Carrier did introduce Claimant's counsel's letter to George Read enclosing copies of Claimant's motion and Claimant's notice of motion. Neither of these documents contained any indication that the hearing on the motion was to be an evidentiary hearing. T at 49-50. Counsel for Employer and Carrier represented to the Commission that he had spoken

directly with both of Claimant's attorneys in setting the motion for hearing and that neither attorney gave indication whatsoever that any evidence was to be presented at the hearing. T at 50. Claimant's counsel did not dispute this assertion.

II. Summary of the Argument

The circuit court judge in this matter did not review this appeal under a substantial evidence standard but instead made his own vague factual findings and improperly substituted his judgment for that of the Commission. Given the parameters set out by the Mississippi Supreme Court and by this Court regarding payments to the relative of a disabled Claimant's relative for required nursing services, the full Commission's order was supported by substantial evidence. The proof presented by Claimant established that Claimant's mother and stepfather sleep simultaneously through the night and that a trained nursing assistant provides care for at least an hour a day. Further, the testimony of claimant's mother and stepfather establish that many of the tasks they perform are general household tasks or other activities which, by law, are not required nursing services subject to compensation. For many years now, Employer and Carrier have provided payment to Claimant's mother and stepfather for home nursing services for sixteen hours per day. Given the uncontested proof regarding the actual services being provided by Claimant's mother and stepfather, the Commission's determination regarding the sufficiency of payment for nursing services for sixteen hours per day is supported by substantial evidence.

The circuit court had two options in this matter - to affirm or to remand for further evidentiary proceedings on the core issues. The circuit court did not have the option to reverse the Commission, given the full Commission finding that Claimant failed to follow Commission procedure in setting a hearing on the merits. Though counsel for Employer and Carrier does not

ascribe any sinister motivation to Claimant's counsel, the hearing that took place was an unintentional trail by ambush. Both the administrative judge and the full Commission determined that Claimant's counsel failed to follow Commission procedure in setting an evidentiary hearing. No petition to controvert was filed, no discovery took place, and Claimant did not provide the mandatory Prehearing Statement, which includes disclosure of proposed exhibits and fact and expert witnesses. Nonetheless, both the administrative judge and the full Commission found that Claimant had the opportunity to present all of the proof which Claimant desired to present and that Claimant still failed to make out a prima facie case that his mother and stepfather were providing required nursing care for 24 hours a day.

III. Mississippi Law and its Application to this Case

A. The full Commission is the ultimate fact finder, and the circuit court could overturn the Commission ruling only if the Commission's ruling was not supported by any credible evidence.

In reviewing an order of the Workers' Compensation Commission, a circuit court acts as an appellate court. *See, e.g., Leathers v. Tupelo Coffee Co.*, 423 So. 2d 122 (Miss. 1982). In *Natchez Equipment Co., Inc. v. Gibbs, 623 So.2d 270 (Miss. 1993)*, the Mississippi Supreme Court stated: "When the decision of the Commission is before the circuit court on intermediate appeal, that circuit court may not tamper with the findings of fact, where the findings are supported by substantial evidence." *Natchez Equipment Co., Inc.*, 623 So. 2d at 274 (citing *Roberts v. Jr. Food Mart*, 308 So. 2d 232, 234-35 (Miss. 1975)). *See also, e.g., Lanterman*, 608 So. 2d at 1345 (appeals court applies "deferential standard of review" to findings and decisions of Commission). In *Hill v. Ruleville Health Care Center*, 687 So. 2d 1221 (Miss. 1997), the Mississippi Supreme Court expounded on the responsibility of a circuit court in workers'

compensation appeals:

It is not the role of the circuit courts to determine where the preponderance of the evidence lies, when the evidence is conflicting, given that it is presumed that the Commission as trier of fact has previously determined which evidence is credible and which evidence is not. This highly deferential standard of review essentially means that this Court and circuit courts will not overturn a Commission decision unless said decision was arbitrary and capricious. . . [C]aselaw from this Court indicates that it is only in rather extraordinary cases that a circuit court should reverse the findings of the Commission.

Hill, 687 So. 2d at 1225 (citations omitted) (emphasis added). A Commission decision may not be overturned unless it is clearly erroneous, manifestly wrong and contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence. See, e.g., Nettles v. Gulf City Fisheries, Inc., 629 So. 2d 554, 557 (Miss. 1993) and McGowan v. Orleans Furniture, Inc., 586 So. 2d 163, 165 (Miss. 1991). As the trier of fact, the Full Commission is the judge of the credibility of all witnesses. Miller Transporters, Inc. v. Guthrie, 554 So. 2d 917, 918 (Miss. 1989) (citations omitted).

Consequently, the role of the Circuit Court of Marshall County as an appellate court should have been limited. Since Claimant was not alleging that the full Commission Order contains an error of law, the circuit court should have used the arbitrary and capricious standard in reviewing the factual findings from which Claimant is appealing. *See Walker Mfg. Co. V. Cantrell*, 577 So. 2d 1243, 1247 (Miss. 1991). The supported factual finding of the Commission should have been upheld, despite the disagreement with the factual conclusions of the Commission. *See Barnes v. Jones Lumber Co.*, 637 So. 2d 867, 869 (Miss. 1994).

B. The Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission correctly determined that Employer and Carrier are providing reasonable compensation for nursing care provided by James and Nettie Wiseman.

Since this Court issued its ruling on the earlier appeal in this matter, Employer and Carrier

have in all ways complied with the prior affirmed Full Commission Order and have not in any way resisted their statutory obligation to provide medical care in this matter. This medical care includes paying for sixteen hours a day of unskilled nursing care provided by Claimant's mother. A line of cases cited by the Mississippi Supreme Court and by this Court clearly establish that a claimant's spouse can provide nursing care and be compensated by the Carrier for this nursing care. While this case involves Claimant's mother, Employer and Carrier have never made an issue of this fact, as the rationale set out in the relevant cases would apply to a claimant's mother just as it would apply to the spouse of a claimant.

The Mississippi Supreme Court first considered the issue of home care provided by a spouse in the case of *Graham v. City of Kosciusko*, 339 So. 2d 60 (Miss. 1976). In *Graham I*, the claimant was rendered a paraplegic after he suffered an industrial accident while working as an electrical lineman for the City of Kosciusko. *Graham*, 339 So. 2d at 61. Claimant's accident occurred in 1964. In 1972, claimant's attorney made a request that the carrier provide payment for nursing services being rendered by the wife of the claimant. *Id.* This request made in 1972 was prospective only, not covering the period of 1964 through 1972. *Id.* On June 19, 1972, after the carrier failed to pay for the nursing services, claimant filed a Petition to Controvert requesting that the carrier be required to pay \$392.87 per month for nursing services provided by claimant's wife. *Id.* at 62. This amount was based on payment to claimant's wife for eight hours per day. *Id.* After hearing, the administrative judge ruled that claimant's wife is entitled to payment for nursing care for sixteen hours per day from 1964 to 1972 and eight hours per day thereafter. *Id.*

This case will be referred to as "Graham I," since a second appeal was considered by the Mississippi Supreme Court in the same case.

The full Commission affirmed the order of the administrative judge but did remand the case for further findings regarding specific amounts which should be paid to claimant's wife for certain periods of time. After remand, the administrative judge issued an order making detailed findings as to the number of hours per day, an hourly rate for which claimant's wife was due reimbursement since claimant's date of injury. This order was again appealed and the full Commission affirmed the order. *Id.* at 63.

In considering the evidence, the Mississippi Supreme Court noted the differing opinions of several treating physicians as to the number of hours per day for which claimant would need treatment. *Id.* at 63-64. The Court further examined the testimony of fact witnesses and noted "her testimony and that of the Claimant hopelessly intermingled his special nursing needs with her general household duties of preparing meals, washing clothes, and cleaning the home." *Id.* at 64.

The Mississippi Supreme Court then examined the matter from a legal standpoint, noting that the question of payment to a wife for special nursing services rendered to a disabled husband was a matter of first impression in Mississippi. *Id.* The Court quoted with favor from a leading workers' compensation treatise:

Later cases, however, have permitted the charge, on the reasoning that the employer, by statute, has the affirmative duty of furnishing this kind of nursing service. If he has not done so, and if the wife then takes over these duties in addition to her regular household work and does exactly what a hired nurse would have had to do, the charge is proper.

Id., (quoting Larson Workman's Compensation Law, Section 61.13 (1976).

While the Mississippi Supreme Court adopted the principle that payment to a spouse for nursing services is proper, the Court held that the Full Commission improperly considered the question of nursing services provided from 1964 to 1972, since these nursing services were never addressed

in the initial Petition to Controvert. Id. at 65. The Court noted as follows:

Each case must be considered on its own merits; There is no standard solution for every case regardless of the facts. . . The defendants were never heard on their defenses of no notice, no request, no doctor's prescription, nor on their defenses of the several statutes of limitation . . . A full hearing should be afforded both sides. Required nursing services should be separated from general household duties and work that a wife ordinarily performs in and about the home and looking after and caring for her husband and children. There should be testimony from doctors as to how many hours per day would be required for special nursing services for the claimant from July 8, 1964 to February 23, 1972.

Id.

Four years later, in the case of *Babcock & Wilcox Co. and the Travelers Ins. Co. v. Smith*, 379 So.2d 538 (Miss. 1980), the Mississippi Supreme Court again addressed the issue of nursing care provided to a disabled claimant by the claimant's wife. In *Babcock*, the full Commission ruled that the claimant's wife was entitled to payment for nursing services for four hours per day for a specified period of time and two hours a day thereafter for claimant's life for home nursing services provided by claimant's wife. *Babcock*, 379 So. 2d at 539. The Mississippi Supreme Court held that this care provided for claimant, who was a paraplegic, was reasonable, and the Commission's finding was supported by substantial evidence. *Id.* The Court also held that the care provided by the claimant's wife did not have to be skilled nursing care: "we also think insignificant that fact that the assistance requested involves essentially non-technical tasks resembling those performed by orderlies or licensed practical nurses in hospitals." *Id.* Finally, the *Babcock* Court noted that claimant put on clear evidence that the medical care was requested in a timely fashion. *Id.*

In 1982, the Supreme Court considered the second appeal in the case of City of Kosciusko

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