# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 2006-WC-02101

HURDLE & SON AND MISSISSIPPI CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY

**APPELLANTS** 

VS.

MICHAEL A. HOLLOWAY

**APPELLEE** 

### **BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

J. KIZER JONES – BAR # 126 E. COLLEGE AVENUE POST OFFICE BOX 117 HOLLY SPRINGS, MISSISSIPPI 38635 (662) 252-3788

BARRETT J. CLISBY – BAR 2086 OLD TAYLOR ROAD, SUITE 202 P.O. BOX 240 OXFORD, MISSISSIPPI 38655 (662) 234-8413

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 2006-WC-02101

HURDLE & SON AND MISSISSIPPI CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY

**APPELLANTS** 

VS.

MICHAEL A. HOLLOWAY

**APPELLEE**

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

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Employer/Carrier is currently compensating James and Nettie Wiseman for sixteen hours a day of nursing care at seven dollars per hour. The overwhelming weight of the evidence, however, supports compensation for twenty-four hour nursing care. Mr. Holloway, James and Nettie Wiseman, as well as Jackie Moore all provided the Administrative Judge with ample evidence that twenty-four hour care is needed by Mr. Holloway and is being provided by the Wisemans. Employer/Carrier has argued that much of the care provided by the Wisemans constitute general household duties and do not qualify for compensation. However, no services provided to Mr. Holloway by the Wiseman's can be considered normal household duties. Mr. Holloway is a forty-five year old man living with his mother and step-father. Had Mr. Holloway not been paralyzed, he would be living independently in a residence separate and apart from his parents. These facts alone distinguish his case from every case cited by the appellants, which all concern care provided by a spouse.

The Worker's Compensation Commission is the trier of facts, but all questions of law and fact are reviewable by a circuit judge. All questions of fact are reviewed on a substantial evidence standard and should be reversed if they are clearly erroneous and contrary to the

overwhelming weight of the evidence. On appeal, the circuit court found the Workers' Compensation Commission's decision to be erroneous and against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, and upon such finding, it was the court's duty to enter such judgment as the commission should have entered.

Additionally, any alleged procedural error regarding the hearing before the Administrative Judge in no way prevented the Marshall County Circuit Court from reversing the Commission's decision. If the Administrative Judge felt that the Employer/Carrier was prejudiced by the hearing, then she had a duty to reschedule the hearing until such time as the Employer/Carrier was properly prepared. Furthermore, pursuant to the Rules of the Mississippi Workers Compensation Commission, Employer/Carrier had an opportunity to supplement the record before the Administrative Judge's ruling was reviewed by the full Commission. Therefore, Employer/Carrier had an opportunity in 2003 to remedy any and all alleged deficiencies in the record but failed to do so. By failing to supplement the record, Employer/Carrier's acts and/or omissions constituted a waiver of all complaints relating thereto. Now, approximately four years into the appellate process, it would be contrary to all notions of judicial economy and fairness to the Appellee to remand this issue back to an Administrative Judge when it can be properly decided by this Honorable Court.

#### **ARGUMENT**

A. The Marshall County Circuit Court properly reversed the Mississippi Worker's Compensation Commission's finding that Michael Holloway's parents were not entitled to compensation for 24 hour-a-day nursing care as such a finding was contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

The Worker's Compensation Commission is the trier of facts, but all questions of law and fact in a worker's compensation case are subject to circuit court review, and the court is required to look at all the evidence on both sides. Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-51 (2000). See also, e.g., Roberts v. Junior Food Mart, 308 So. 2d 232 at 235 (Miss. 1975). The Workers' Compensation

Commission's findings of fact are reviewed on a substantial evidence standard and should be reversed if they are clearly erroneous and contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Dillon v. Roadway Exp., Inc., 823 So. 2d 588 at 590 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002). The substantial evidence rule permits the appellate court to examine the record as a whole, check for errors, and ascertain whether the beneficent purposes of the Workmen's Compensation Act have been carried out. Universal Mfg. Co. v. Barlow, 260 So. 2d 827 at 831 (Miss. 1972); Kroger Co. v. Orr, 230 So. 2d 798 at 801 (Miss. 1971). When the compensation commission's judgment is clearly erroneous and prejudicial on a question of law or fact, the circuit court, on appeal, possesses the authority to enter such judgment as the commission should have entered. Scott v. Brookhaven Well Serv., 150 So. 2d 508 at 511 (Miss. 1963). A finding is clearly erroneous when, although there is some slight evidence to support it, when reviewing the entire body of evidence, the court is left with a definite and firm conviction that mistakes have been made by the Commission in its findings of fact and in its application of workers' compensation law. T.P.I. Restaurants, Inc. v. Stephens, 822 So. 2d 1018 at 1020 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002). The standard of review of the Marshall County Circuit Court was limited, but the court did not abuse its discretion in overturning the decision of the Worker's Compensation Commission. Upon a finding that the Commission's decision was clearly erroneous, the Circuit Court had a duty to enter such judgment as the Commission should have entered.

In Mr. Holloway's case, the overwhelming weight of the evidence supports compensation for twenty-four hour a day nursing care, and as such, the Marshall County Circuit Court correctly reversed the Commission's decision denying Michael Holloway's parents compensation for twenty-four hour care they have been and are currently providing. The Mississippi Supreme Court stated in *Graham v. City of Kosciusko* that "each case must be considered on its own merits; there is no standard solution for every case regardless of the facts." 339 So. 2d 60 at 65

(Miss. 1976). Therefore, the Commission's decision should have been based primarily on the evidence in this particular case.

Mr. Holloway is a forty-five year old man who has been living with his parents ever since a car accident rendered him a C-6 quadriplegic. Mr. Holloway is paralyzed from the chin down and is dependant upon his mother and step-father for absolutely everything whether day or night. Had he not been paralyzed, Mr. Holloway's mother and step-father would not be involved in any of the day-to-day needs of their forty-five year old son. These facts alone distinguish Mr. Holloway's case from every case cited in the appellant's brief, which all concern care provided by a spouse. There are many household duties that spouses share or perform for one another. However, nothing Mr. and Mrs. Wiseman do for their son can be considered a "normal" household duty. All the household duties Mr. and Mrs. Wiseman perform for their son are notably abnormal. If not for Michael Holloway's injury, he would not be living with his parents or factor into their household duties. Therefore, the acts of cleaning Mr. Holloway's room, cleaning his bathroom, washing his clothes, washing his sheets, and cooking for him cannot be considered general household duties for the Wisemans. Had Mr. Holloway not been paralyzed, he would be living independently in a residence separate and apart from the residence of his parents, and Mr. and Mrs. Wiseman would not be responsible for any of these duties. None of Mr. Holloway's day-to-day needs should be considered "normal" household duties for James and Nettie Wiseman, and they should be compensated accordingly for seeing to those needs.

The fact that Mr. Holloway and his parents both sleep at night also weighed into the Commission's decision to deny compensation for 24 hour care. Michael Holloway and the Wisemans testified that Mr. Holloway often requires assistance during the night, and they have even placed a baby monitor in Mr. Holloway's room allowing them to hear his call if they are asleep. Simply because Mr. Holloway sleeps at times during the night does not mean his parents

are not providing care. Care is not merely physical aid. Care is also the willingness and ability to render that aid. There are a multitude of dangers associated with quadriplegia that make it necessary for the Wisemans to be available at all times. They must be available during the night to turn Mr. Holloway in his bed, guard against asphyxiation, adjust the temperature of his room, give him water, provide incontinent care, and/or remove him from the house in the event of a fire. This Court should make no mistake that the Wisemans are "on call" every night and have been so for over a decade.

The question of a carrier compensating for time "actually performing services" versus time "on call" has not been specifically ruled upon in Mississippi. Other jurisdictions have, however, considered this question and ruled that relatives of an injured party can be compensated for time spent on call and not just for time performing actual nursing care. In Shadbolt v. Schneider, Inc., Mr. Shadbolt, the claimant, was rendered a quadriplegic due to a work related stroke. 710 P.2d 738 at 739 (N.M. Ct. App. 1985). Every day Mr. Shadbolt's spouse cooked for, fed, shaved, bathed, and dressed her husband. In addition, throughout the day, she exercised him, moved him from the bed to the couch and back again, administered physical therapy and breathing treatments, took care of his bladder and bowel functions, and shifted his position to prevent pressure sores from forming. Id at 742-43. During the night, she awakened every three hours to turn him. Id at 743. Schneider, Inc., the employer, argued that Mrs. Shadbolt should only be compensated for the time she performed actual work. Id at 742. The Court disagreed with this defense stating that if Mrs. Shadbolt were not available to care for Mr. Shadbolt, he would require a professional attendant for twenty-four hours a day who would be compensated at an hourly rate irrespective of how much care Mr. Shadbolt required during that time. Id at 742, 743.

Similarly, the Texas Court of Appeals, in *Texas Employers Ins. Ass'n v. Choate*, rejected the employer's contention that a claimant's wife should only be compensated for the time she actually spent doing things for her husband and not for the time she was simply available to help him. 644 S.W.2d 112 (Tex. App. 1982). Mr. Choate was rendered totally and permanently disabled when he came in contact with a live wire while working on electric lines damaged in an ice storm. *Id* at 114. The Association argued that Mrs. Choate should only be compensated for the time she actually spent doing things for her husband and not for the time she was simply available to help him. *Id* at 116. This argument was rejected since a third person hired to do what Mrs. Choate does would be paid for the time he or she was available, not just the time spent actually helping Mr. Choate. *Id*. The court also rejected this argument since Mrs. Choate must be available to meet her husband's needs at all times and cannot set aside specific times during the day to assist her husband and then do other things. *Id*.

According to Jackie Moore, if Michael Holloway were in a nursing home, Employer/Carrier would be forced to pay for twenty-four hour nursing care at a much higher rate than the seven dollars per hour currently being paid to the Wiseman's. However, James and Nettie Wiseman have chosen to care for Mr. Holloway themselves. They take care of Mr. Holloway's every need, with the exception of minimal help from home care aids. Mr. Holloway has an aid that bathes him once a day, and a nurse that checks his vital signs once a week. Other than that, his parents provide all other assistance at a discounted rate to the Employer/Carrier. Mr. and Mrs. Wiseman wash Mr. Holloway's face, dress him, feed him his meals, supply him with water, move him from his bed to his chair, change the channel on the TV, and answer to any other requests Mr. Holloway has throughout the day and night. Mr. and Mrs. Wiseman have been providing a high level of care to Michael Holloway twenty-four hours a day, seven days a week for ten years and they should be compensated accordingly. The overwhelming weight of

the evidence supports compensation for twenty-four hour nursing care, and the Marshall County Circuit Court was correct in reversing the Commission's denial of said compensation. As such, the circuit court's reversal should be affirmed.

B. Any alleged procedural errors before the Administrative Judge did not affect the Marshall County Circuit Court's authority to rule on the issue at bar, nor does it affect this Court's authority to affirm the circuit court's decision.

On August 2, 2002, Michael Holloway filed two motions, one of which requested a determination of amounts owed for nursing care provided by James and Nettie Wiseman. The Administrative Judge heard the Claimant's motions, which were supported by testimony from Mr. Holloway, testimony from the Wisemans, and testimony from Jackie Moore. Despite Employer/Carrier's objection to the presentation of said testimony, the Administrative Judge heard the evidence and subsequently denied Mr. Holloway's motions. The decision of the Administrative Judge was appealed to the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission, and on May 7, 2004, the Full Commission affirmed the Administrative Judge's decision.

Any alleged procedural error regarding the hearing before the Administrative Judge did not preclude the Marshall County Circuit Court from properly reversing the Commission's decision nor does its affect this Court's authority to affirm the circuit court's decision. If the Administrative Judge felt that the Employer/Carrier was prejudiced by the hearing, then she had a duty to reschedule the hearing until such time as the Employer/Carrier was properly prepared. Furthermore, pursuant to Procedural Rule 9 of the Rules of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission, Employer/Carrier had the opportunity to supplement the record before the Administrative Judge's ruling was reviewed by the full Commission. Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission Procedural Rule 9 states in relevant part:

"Where additional evidence is offered on the review before the Full Commission, it shall be admitted in the discretion of the Commission. A motion for the introduction of additional evidence must be made in writing at least five (5) days prior to the date of the hearing of the review by the Full Commission. Such shall state with particularity the nature of such evidence, the necessity therefore, and the reason it was not introduced at the evidentiary hearing. If additional evidence is admitted, it shall be stenographically reported or recorded and become a part of the record."

Employer/Carrier had an opportunity in 2003 to remedy any and all alleged deficiencies in the record but failed to do so. By failing to supplement the record, Employer/Carrier's acts and/or omissions constituted a waiver of all complaints relating thereto. Now, approximately four years into the appellate process, it would be contrary to all notions of judicial economy as well as fairness to the claimant to remand this issue back to an Administrative Judge when it can be properly decided by this Honorable Court.

#### **CONCLUSION**

The decision of the Marshall County Circuit Court to grant James and Nettie Wiseman compensation for 24-hour nursing care should be affirmed. Mr. Holloway, James and Nettie Wiseman, as well as Jackie Moore all testified that Mr. Holloway requires twenty-four hour care, and his mother and step-father are always there to provide that care. James and Nettie Wiseman are on call twenty-four hours a day and they should be compensated for twenty-four hours of service. The circuit court reviewed the specific facts relevant to Mr. Holloway's claim using the substantial evidence standard, and upon review, the circuit court found the Worker's Compensation Commission's findings of fact to be erroneous and contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Upon such a finding, it was the court's duty reverse the Commission's decision and enter such judgment as the Commission should have entered.

Furthermore, any alleged procedural error regarding the hearing before the Administrative Judge did not preclude the Marshall County Circuit Court from properly reversing the Commission's decision nor does its affect this Court's authority to affirm the circuit court's decision. Employer/Carrier had an opportunity to supplement the record in 2003

but chose not to do so. By failing to supplement the record, Employer/Carrier's acts and/or omissions constituted a waiver of all complaints relating thereto. Now, approximately four years into the appellate process, it would be contrary to all notions of judicial economy as well as fairness to the claimant to remand this issue back to an Administrative Judge when it can be properly decided by this Honorable Court.

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